ECDC DRAFT TECHNICAL REPORT

Proposals for draft EU guidelines on the prudent use of antimicrobials in human medicine



This report of the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) was coordinated by Diamantis Plachouras.

Contributing authors

Elias Iosifidis, Dominique Monnet, Annalisa Quattrocchi, Klaus Weist, Mike Catchpole.

Acknowledgements

Expert group: Agnes Wechsler-Fördös (Rudolfstiftung Hospital); Herman Goossens (University of Antwerp); Vera Vlahović-Palcevski (University of Rijeka); Céline Pulcini (University of Lorraine); Maria Luisa Moro (Regional Health Agency Emilia-Romagna); Uga Dumpis (University of Latvia); Michael Borg (University of Malta); Inge Gyssens, (Radboud University); Annelie Monnier (Radboud University); Milan Čižman (University of Lubljan); Thomas Tängdén (University of Uppsala); Philippa Moore (Public Health England); Cliodna McNulty (Public Health England); Mike Sharland (University of London).

Observer: Radu Botgros (European Medicines Agency)

THIS DRAFT TECHNICAL REPORT IS SUBJECT TO A PUBLIC CONSULTATION PROCESS. THE RESULT OF THAT PROCESS MAY LEAD TO CHANGES IN THE FINAL REPORT

Stockholm, July 2016

© European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2016 Reproduction is authorised, provided the source is acknowledged

Contents

Abbreviations	iv
Introduction	1
Definitions	1
Purpose	1
Scope	1
Principles and elements for inclusion in guidelines	2
1. International – organisations, agencies	2
2. National and regional – governments, administrators, public health agencies, professional associations and	I
scientific societies	2
3. Healthcare facilities (resources, systems and processes for healthcare facilities)	3
4. Laboratories	4
5. Prescribers	4
6. Pharmacists	5
7. Nurses	5
8. Infection control practitioners	5
9. Education / academics	6
10. Public / patients	6
11. Research	6
12. Pharmaceutical industry	6
References	7
Appendix 1. Methodology	.10
Appendix 2. List of proposed examples of quantitative indicators	.11

Abbreviations

DDD DOT FTE Defined daily dose Days of therapy Full-time equivalent

Introduction

The exposure of microorganisms to antimicrobial agents creates the selective pressure that leads to the development of resistance. Inappropriate use of antimicrobials accelerates the emergence and dissemination of resistance. Combined with the meagre development of novel antimicrobials, the spread of resistance to existing ones is leading to loss of effective options for the treatment and prevention of infections, representing a health security threat for Europe. Antimicrobials are unique among therapeutic medicines because their use affects not only the person receiving the treatment but also the rest of the population, including other patients, through a complex effect on microbiota in the human host, other animal hosts and the environment.

In the context of ongoing work against the rising threats from antimicrobial resistance and given the role of
 antimicrobial misuse and overuse in the emergence and spread of resistance, the European Commission asked
 ECDC to develop draft EU guidelines on the prudent use of antimicrobials in human medicine, including generic
 principles of good practice on the appropriate use of antimicrobial agents in human medical practice in the EU.

13 These draft guidelines will be a key contribution to support the European Commission in its aim to produce a 14 finalised EU guidelines document.

15 **Definitions**

16 An **antimicrobial** is an agent with activity against microorganisms (viruses, bacteria, fungi or parasites).

Antimicrobials with activity against bacteria are called antibacterials. The term 'antibiotic' is often used to refer to antibacterials.

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is the resistance of a microorganism to an antimicrobial agent that was originally effective for treatment of infections caused by this microorganism.

Antimicrobial therapy can be *empiric*, when based on a reasonable informed clinical judgement regarding the most likely infecting organism or *definitive* when the identity and antimicrobial susceptibility of the infecting organism is known as the result of appropriate diagnostic or reference testing.

24 **Antimicrobial prophylaxis** is the use of antimicrobials for the prevention of infections.

25 Prudent or **appropriate antimicrobial use** aims to benefit the patient while at the same time minimises the 26 probability of adverse effects and promotion of the emergence or spread of antimicrobial resistance.

Antimicrobial stewardship programmes refer to coordinated programmes that implement interventions to ensure appropriate antimicrobial prescribing and effective antimicrobial treatment, in order to limit antimicrobial resistance and to prevent *Clostridium difficile* infections.

30 Prescribers are all healthcare professionals qualified to prescribe antimicrobials. In addition to physicians and 31 dental practitioners, the term may refer to prescribing nurses, pharmacists, clinical microbiologists and midwives,

32 depending on local regulations.

33 **Purpose**

The purpose of this draft technical report is to provide guidance on generic elements of good practice on the

prudent and appropriate use of antimicrobials in human medical practice. This includes good clinical practice and the resources, systems and processes that the various authorities and actors should consider in the development

and implementation of strategies for EU health systems to support and promote the prudent use of antimicrobials.

38 Scope

³⁹ The present report relates to the prudent use of antimicrobials in human medicine, with special focus on

40 antibacterials. However, the principles also apply to other classes of antimicrobials.

41 The report will not cover specific medical conditions or specific antimicrobials.

42

Principles and elements for inclusion in guidelines

1. International – organisations, agencies

International cross-sectoral and inter-organisational collaboration and coordination is required to establish standards, systems and procedures necessary to control and prevent the cross-border spread of antimicrobial resistance and to ensure the sharing of best practice and support capacity development. Current evidence and expert opinion support the following as effective elements of international collaboration and cooperation:

- a. International collaboration in designing, implementing and monitoring antimicrobial stewardship
- 51 interventions and campaigns to support appropriate antimicrobial use [expert consensus].
- b. Establish a new European platform for sharing best practice interventions on appropriate antimicrobial use
 and their impact on relevant qualitative and quantitative outcomes [expert consensus].
- c. International collaboration on surveillance of antimicrobial consumption and antimicrobial resistance [expert consensus].
- d. Scientific societies should support the development of good clinical practice guidelines that are adaptable to
 local resistance patterns and address the most common infections [expert consensus].
- e. Ensure access to essential antimicrobials by supporting market availability [expert consensus].
- f. Encourage the development of European and national standards for selective reporting of microbiology
 results to optimise antimicrobial prescribing [expert consensus].
- g. Develop European evidence-based guidelines on the use of rapid and point-of-care diagnostics [expert
 consensus].

2. National and regional – governments, administrators, public health agencies, professional associations and scientific societies

National and regional bodies play a key role in developing, implementing, and supporting the policies and infrastructure necessary to control and prevent antimicrobial resistance and in the regulation and audit of compliance with legal, policy and professional standards. Current evidence and expert opinion support the following as effective elements of national and regional policy, infrastructure and regulatory functions:

- Fund, develop and implement a national action plan for appropriate use of antimicrobials in human
 medicine including multi-faceted interventions adapted to local conditions [1] [expert consensus].
- b. Integrate national antimicrobial stewardship activities into the national antimicrobial resistance plans that include infection prevention and control and vaccination, in a 'One Health' approach [expert consensus].
 c. Set qualitative and quantitative targets for improvement of prescribing [expert consensus]. Example:
- c. Set qualitative and quantitative targets for improvement of prescribing [expert consensus]. Example:
 antibiotic quality premium (NHS England) [2].
- d. Ensure availability of standardised local and national open data for benchmarking [expert consensus].
- e. Establish a national committee/platform for the development, implementation and monitoring of clinical
 guidance for infections [expert consensus].
- f. Ensure availability of national clinical guidance based on antimicrobial resistance patterns for the
 community, long-term care facilities and hospitals [3,4] [expert consensus].
- g. Ensure national clinical guidance is reviewed and revised when there is a significant change in antimicrobial
 resistance, new evidence on management of infections or at regular intervals (e.g. 2–3 years) [expert
 consensus].
- h. Provide guidelines and tools for the implementation of antimicrobial stewardship programmes covering the
 community, long-term care facilities and hospitals. Example: 'Start smart then focus' and TARGET antibiotics
 toolkit (UK) [3,5].
- i. Ensure availability of guidelines for therapeutic and prophylactic antimicrobial prescribing in dental practice
 [expert consensus].
- j. Establish a list of antimicrobials with restrictive measures for use [expert consensus] [4,6,7].
- k. Fund, design, implement and assess national campaigns on antimicrobial use targeting the public and
 health professionals [8].
- Explore incentive systems for appropriate prescribing [expert consensus] [9]. Examples: Introduction of
 appropriate prescribing as a certification indicator for healthcare facilities and Pay for Performance (P4P) in
 primary care (France), antibiotic quality premium (NHS England) [2].
- m. Review, or establish if not available, the legal provisions on availability of antimicrobials over the internet
 [expert consensus].

- n. Ensure compliance with the regulations with regards to the dispensing of antimicrobials without prescription
 and over the internet [expert consensus].
- Monitor and audit the appropriate use of antimicrobials introducing relevant quality indicators and set up
 systems for monitoring these indicators. Ensure regular feedback of the results to prescribers [expert
 consensus].
- p. Promote the introduction of electronic antimicrobial prescribing systems able to link clinical indication,
 microbiological and consumption data [expert consensus].
- q. Promote common antimicrobial stewardship programmes covering hospitals, primary care and long-term
 care facilities at national and regional level [expert consensus].
- r. Consider behavioural interventions to reduce inappropriate antimicrobial prescribing. Such interventions
 include, for example, accountable justification and peer comparison [expert consensus] [10].
- s. Explore motivational and system change approaches to optimise antimicrobial prescribing. Example:
 reimbursement policies to discourage inappropriate prescribing and unnecessary doctor consultations for
 minor infections and public commitment [expert consensus].
- 111 t. Explore per unit dispensing of antimicrobials to match pack size with planned course duration according to 112 national guidelines [expert consensus].
- u. Supervise and regulate promotional activity by the pharmaceutical industry, so it contributes to appropriate
 antimicrobial prescribing [expert consensus].

3. Healthcare facilities (resources, systems and processes for healthcare facilities)

Healthcare facilities are on the frontline for the implementation of policies and procedures, and for the provision of surveillance and monitoring data, which are necessary to control and prevent antimicrobial resistance. They are also a key point in the system for the audit of compliance with policy and professional standards. Current evidence and expert opinion support the following as effective elements of guidelines to be applied at the level of a healthcare facility:

122	а.	Establish and provide the necessary funding for antimicrobial stewardship programmes in all healthcare				
123		facilities [11-14].				
124	b.	For hospitals, the elements of such programmes should include:				
125		 An antimicrobial committee or similar formal organisational structure. 				
126		ii. An antimicrobial stewardship team including at least a clinician (iii) and a pharmacist (iv).				
127		iii. A clinician with expertise in the management of infections to be responsible for the antimicrobial				
128		stewardship team.				
129		iv. A pharmacist responsible for antimicrobial use.				
130		v. Salary support and dedicated time for antimicrobial stewardship activities. Example: 0.5–1.5 full-				
131		time equivalents (FTEs) per 250 acute care beds [15,16]. Example of indicator: number of FTEs for				
132		antimicrobial stewardship activities.				
133		vi. IT support for antimicrobial stewardship activities.				
134		vii. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of infections. Example of indicator: proportion of				
135		prescriptions compliant with guidelines.				
136		viii. Documentation in the patient chart of indication, drug choice, dose, route and duration of				
137		treatment [expert consensus]. Example of indicator: proportion of antimicrobial treatment courses				
138		with documentation of indication in the notes, among all antimicrobial treatment courses.				
139		ix. A policy for preauthorisation and/or post-prescription review.				
140		x. The availability of facility-specific cumulative susceptibility reports for common bacterial pathogens				
141		against antibiotics that are recommended in the guidelines.				
142		xi. An audit of perioperative antimicrobial prophylaxis choice, timing and duration.				
143		xii. An annual report on antimicrobial stewardship activities.				
144		xiii. Monitoring of quality indicators and quantity metrics of antimicrobial use with feedback to				
145		prescribers and prescriber actions agreed. Example of indicators: defined daily doses (DDDs) or				
146		days of therapy (DOTs) per 100 patient-days; proportion of cases of Staphylococcus aureus				
147		bacteraemia where infectious disease consultation was provided.				
148	с.	Promote rapid and/or point-of-care diagnostics for defined patient groups to complement clinical				
149		assessment and optimise antimicrobial treatment [17-23].				
150	d.	Introduce electronic decision support systems [21] as tools to improve antimicrobial prescribing [24].				
151	e.	Ensure timely access to clinical microbiology laboratory services. For acute care hospitals, these services				
152		should be provided on a 24/7 basis for critical specimens [expert consensus].				
153	f.	Establish a multi-faceted approach that may include elements such as clinic-based education, patient				
154		information leaflets [25] and public patient education campaigns combined with clinician training [21] in				

communication skills.

156 **4. Laboratories**

Laboratories play a key role in providing diagnostic information and the expertise required to inform effective control and prevention of antimicrobial resistance. Current evidence and expert opinion support the following as effective elements of guidelines to be applied at the laboratory level:

- a. Ensure that susceptibility testing and reporting are in accordance with treatment guidelines (selective reporting), and European and national standards [expert consensus]. Example: Selective reporting for urinary tract infections [26].
- b. Ensure timely diagnosis and communication of critical results (e.g. blood cultures) [27].
- c. Provide facility-specific cumulative susceptibility reports for common bacterial pathogens against antibiotics
 that are recommended in the guidelines [expert consensus].

166 **5. Prescribers**

Prescribers are ultimately responsible for the decision to use, and the choice of, antimicrobials in patient care, and as such need to be provided with appropriate training, guidelines and information in order to be able to exercise prudence in the prescribing of antimicrobials and manage patient expectations. Current evidence and expert opinion support the following as effective elements of guidelines to support and enable prescribers in the control and prevention of antimicrobial resistance:

When deciding on the use of antimicrobials, the prescriber should: 172 a. for a patient with sepsis, start antimicrobial treatment via the intravenous route within 1 hour of 173 i. recognition of sepsis [28] 174 ii. avoid antimicrobial treatment when there is evidence of viral infection or of a self-limiting bacterial 175 infection [expert consensus] 176 avoid treatment for colonisation without evidence of infection [29] [expert consensus] 177 iii. 178 iv. use antimicrobial prophylaxis only when indicated according to guidelines [expert consensus] avoid therapy with combinations of antimicrobials unless there is a clear indication according to 179 ٧. guidelines [expert consensus]. Example of indicator: proportion of combination treatments among 180 total number of antimicrobial treatments 181 select an antimicrobial in accordance with available quidelines, at an appropriate dose and for the vi. 182 shortest effective duration [expert consensus] 183 consider relevant host factors: age, immune status, renal function, allergies, foreign bodies and vii. 184 risk factors for antimicrobial resistance (e.g. history of recent antimicrobial use, history of recent 185 travel) [expert consensus] 186 consider allergy testing for patients with a history of allergic reaction to beta-lactams, as a 187 viii. measure to promote use of first-line antimicrobials in non-allergic patients [20] 188 select an antimicrobial with a spectrum of activity as narrow as possible. Example of indicator: ix. 189 [expert consensus] consumption of beta-lactamase-sensitive penicillins (ATC code: J01CE) 190 expressed as a percentage of the total consumption of antibacterials for systemic use (ATC code: 191 192 J01) [30] reassess antimicrobial treatment and consider modification (e.g. de-escalation, discontinuation or 193 х. switch to oral treatment) after 48–72 hours in hospitals, and in specific circumstances in other 194 settings according to guidelines. Example: Day 3 bundle including antibiotic plan, review of 195 diagnosis, adaptation to microbiology and intravenous-to-oral switch [7,31,32]. Example of 196 indicator: proportion of documented antimicrobial courses with reassessment after 48–72 hours. 197 xi. inform the patient about their antimicrobial treatment 198 if antimicrobial treatment is not considered necessary, give patients advice about the expected xii. 199 natural history of the illness, the limited or absent benefit of antimicrobial treatment, and the 200 potential unwanted side-effects of antimicrobials such as diarrhoea and rash, as well as advice 201 about actions in case of worsening clinical condition (safety netting) 202 xiii. address the patient's expectations, questions and preferences as an essential component of 203 patient-centred care and an effective intervention to promote the prudent use of antimicrobials 204 [33] 205 206 b. In the community: do not prescribe antibacterials for viral or self-limiting bacterial infections [34]. Example of 207 i. indicator: Seasonal variation of the total antibiotic consumption (ATC code: J01) (in the 208 community) [30,35] 209 ii. consider delayed antimicrobial prescribing with appropriate safety netting for adults or children in 210 specific circumstances and according to guidelines [36-38]. Example: delayed antimicrobial 211 prescribing for upper respiratory tract infections 212

	iii.	the use of antimicrobials in patients with self-limiting respiratory infection to prevent suppurative
		immunocupprocession infante) [20]
	iv.	evaluate symptoms and use scoring systems or symptom checking lists to guide the need for
	1.	diagnostic testing, antimicrohial treatment and urgent referral. Example: use of Centor score or
		feverDAIN score and ranid strentococcal antigen testing for score throat
	V	dentists should prescribe antimicrobials according to guidelines. Antimicrobials should not be used
	۷.	as a substitute to dental operative intervention [40-42]
c	In host	as a substitute to dental operative intervention [+o-+z].
с.	i	take appropriate microhiological samples before initiation of antimicrohial treatment [evpert
	ii	follow quidance for perioperative antimicrobial prophylaxis [43] and in particular, administer
		intravenous perioperative antimicrobial prophylaxis [15] and, in particular, administer
		administering vancomycin and fluoroquinolones) prefer single dose of perioperative antimicrobial
		prophylaxis and avoid prolonging antimicrobial prophylaxis after the end of surgery lexpert
		consensus]. Examples of indicators: rate of compliance with administration of perioperative
		antimicrobial prophylaxis within 60 minutes before incision, rate of compliance with discontinuation
		of perioperative antimicrobial prophylaxis within 24 hours after initiation of surgery
	iii.	evaluate the need for parenteral antimicrobials and switch to oral antimicrobials when possible.
		according to available clinical criteria [7.14.20.44]
	iv.	in high-risk patients, avoid the use of antimicrobials that are associated with increased risk for
		<i>Clostridium difficile</i> infection if there are alternatives [14,20,45]. Example of indicator: incidence of
		Clostridium difficile infections
	ν.	therapeutic drug monitoring is recommended for adjustment of the dosing regimen according to
		guidelines and in specific circumstances. Example: therapeutic drug monitoring for aminoglycosides
		and vancomycin [20].
	c.	iii. iv. v. c. In hosp i. ii. ii. v.

239 6. Pharmacists

Pharmacists are the gatekeepers to the use of antimicrobials and can act as an important source of advice and
 information for patients, and as such need to be provided with appropriate training, guidelines and information in
 order to be able to exercise prudence in the prescribing of antimicrobials and manage patient expectations. Current
 evidence and expert opinion support the following as effective elements of guidelines to support and enable
 pharmacists in the control and prevention of antimicrobial resistance:

- a. Do not dispense antimicrobials without prescription, unless specific provisions allow for regulated
 dispensation in specific circumstances [expert consensus]
- b. Ensure that the patient understands the dosage and duration of treatment and promote returning leftover
 antimicrobials to the pharmacy [expert consensus].

249 **7. Nurses**

The role of nurses within the clinical team, and in particular their regular contact with patients and their role in administering medicines, can be critical to ensuring that antimicrobials are taken according to the prescription and for monitoring the response to antimicrobials (including potential adverse effects). The role of nurse prescribers is also critical and is covered in the preceding section). Current evidence and expert opinion support the following as an effective element of guidelines to support and enable nurses in the control and prevention of antimicrobial resistance:

a. Be actively involved in antimicrobial management as part of the clinical team by acting as the link with the
 pharmacy, being responsible for the administration of antimicrobials and for monitoring the patient and
 patient safety [expert consensus].

8. Infection control practitioners

Infection control practitioners play an essential role in the prevention of healthcare-associated infections, many of which are associated with inappropriate antimicrobial use, and as such can support the prudent use of antimicrobials through the provision of advice and peer review. Current evidence and expert opinion support the following as effective elements of guidelines to support and enable infection control practitioners in the control and prevention of antimicrobial resistance:

a. Ensure the collaboration of antimicrobial stewardship programmes and infection prevention and control
 activities by highlighting the role of appropriate antimicrobial use in the prevention and control of
 healthcare-associated infections [expert consensus].

9. Education / academics

Education and training are essential to the establishment of appropriate knowledge, attitudes and behaviour among healthcare professionals and the public. Current evidence and expert opinion support the following as effective elements of guidelines in respect of the role of education and academics in the control and prevention of antimicrobial resistance:

- a. Ensure that all healthcare professionals are regularly trained on appropriate antimicrobial use [14,46].
 Example: require participation in a minimum number of certified education activities on antimicrobial
 prescribing and use
- b. Include training on prudent antimicrobial use in medical, nursing, pharmacy, dentistry and midwifery
 schools [expert consensus] [14,20]
- c. Introduce education on prudent antimicrobial use, antimicrobial resistance, vaccination and hygiene in
 primary and secondary education. Example: through implementation of the e-Bug platform [expert
 consensus].

281 **10. Public / patients**

The knowledge, attitudes and behaviour of the public and patients can be of profound importance in establishing and ensuring the prudent use of antimicrobials, both in terms of their expectations, and the normative pressures that these can exert on peers and healthcare professionals, and their adherence to medication schedules. Current evidence and expert opinion support the following as effective elements of guidelines in respect of the public and patients in the control and prevention of antimicrobial resistance:

- a. Get informed about appropriate antimicrobial use, antimicrobial resistance and adverse reactions to
 antimicrobials [expert consensus]
- b. Do not use antimicrobials without a medical prescription [expert consensus]
- 290 c. Do not use leftover antimicrobials [expert consensus].

²⁹¹ **11. Research**

Research is essential to combat the current levels of, and rising trends in, antimicrobial resistance. In particular, translational research is needed to identify options for improving the ways in which we use existing antimicrobials and mitigate the risks of the development of resistance. Based on identified knowledge gaps, the following elements were considered important research targets to support the prudent use of antimicrobials:

- a. Promote research that assesses and compares behavioural change interventions for antimicrobial
 prescribing, taking into account cultural differences, in order to improve our understanding of the optimal
 ways that rational antimicrobial prescribing practices can be achieved [47]
- b. Promote research on interventional studies for antimicrobial prescribing [expert consensus]
- c. Research the risk of specific antimicrobials and antimicrobial classes for the selection of antimicrobial
 resistance in microbiota to allow ranking and rational use [expert consensus]
- d. Ensure that results from research on antimicrobials and antimicrobial prescribing are translated into practice
 [expert consensus]
- e. Promote high quality clinical research studies on existing antimicrobials [expert consensus]
- f. Promote research on rapid and point-of-care diagnostics to support evidence-based guidelines for the role
 of diagnostics in appropriate antimicrobial prescribing [expert consensus].

307 12. Pharmaceutical industry

The pharmaceutical industry is a key partner in efforts to ensure the prudent use of antimicrobials. Current evidence and expert opinion support the following as effective elements of guidelines in respect of the role of the pharmaceutical industry in the control and prevention of antimicrobial resistance:

- a. Ensure that promotional activities are in accordance with the summaries of product characteristics (SPCs)
 and national guidelines, and that they mention the risks of antimicrobial resistance and inappropriate use
 [expert consensus]
- b. Adapt pack size and strength to indications [14] [expert consensus]
- c. Consider special labelling of antimicrobial packages that identify them as such and indicate that they are
 medical products for specific use only as prescribed [expert consensus]

317 **References**

Arnold SR, Straus SE. Interventions to improve antibiotic prescribing practices in ambulatory care. Cochrane Database
 of Systematic Reviews [Internet]. 2005; (4). Available from:

- 320 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD003539.pub2/abstract.
- NHS England. Introduction to the antibiotic quality premium 2015. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2015/04/02-amr-lon-intro-antimicrobial-prescribing-qp.pdf.
- 323 3. Public Health England. Start smart then focus 2011 [updated 2015]. Available from:
- 324 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/antimicrobial-stewardship-start-smart-then-focus.
- The Dutch Working Party on Antibiotic Policy (SWAB). Practical Guide Antimicrobial Stewardship in the Netherlands
 2015. Available from: <u>http://esgap.escmid.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/SWAB_guideline_ABS_hospitals.pdf</u>.
- Antimicrobial Stewardship in Primary Care (ASPIC) Collaboration. TARGET antibiotics toolkit. Available from:
 http://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/toolkits/target-antibiotics-toolkit.aspx.
- Ministère des affaires sociales de la santé et des droits des femmes. INSTRUCTION relative à la mise en oeuvre de la lutte contre l'antibiorésistance sous la responsabilité des Agences régionales de santé 2015.
- Schuts EC, Hulscher ME, Mouton JW, Verduin CM, Stuart JW, Overdiek HW, et al. Current evidence on hospital
 antimicrobial stewardship objectives: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2016 Mar 2.
- 8. Huttner B, Goossens H, Verheij T, Harbarth S. Characteristics and outcomes of public campaigns aimed at improving the use of antibiotics in outpatients in high-income countries. Lancet InfectDis. 2010;10(1):17-31.
- Rashidian A, Omidvari AH, Vali Y, Sturm H, Oxman AD. Pharmaceutical policies: effects of financial incentives for
 prescribers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015 (8):CD006731.
- Meeker D, Linder JA, Fox CR, Friedberg MW, Persell SD, Goldstein NJ, et al. Effect of Behavioral Interventions on
 Inappropriate Antibiotic Prescribing Among Primary Care Practices: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2016 Feb 9;315(6):562-70.
- Wagner B, Filice GA, Drekonja D, Greer N, MacDonald R, Rutks I, et al. Antimicrobial stewardship programs in inpatient hospital settings: a systematic review. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2014 Oct;35(10):1209-28.
- 12. Davey P, Brown E, Charani E, Fenelon L, Gould Ian M, Holmes A, et al. Interventions to improve antibiotic prescribing
- practices for hospital inpatients. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews [Internet]. 2013; (4). Available from:
 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/store/10.1002/14651858.CD003543.pub3/asset/CD003543.pdf?v=1&t=io2xymqf&s=042f44382461
 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/store/10.1002/14651858.CD003543.pub3/asset/CD003543.pdf?v=1&t=io2xymqf&s=042f44382461
 <a href="http://branchinelibrary.wiley.com/store/10.1002/14651858.CD003543.pub3/asset/CD003543.pdf?v=1&t=io2xymqf&s=042f44382461
- Karanika S, Paudel S, Grigoras C, Kalbasi A, Mylonakis E. Clinical and Economic Outcomes from the Implementation of
 Hospital-based Antimicrobial Stewardship Programs: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2016
 May 31.
- 34814.National institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Antimicrobial stewardship: systems and processes for effective349antimicrobial medicine use 2015. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng15?unlid=5776159082016524134857.
- Le Coz P, Carlet J, Roblot F, Pulcini C. Human resources needed to perform antimicrobial stewardship teams' activities in
 French hospitals. Med Mal Infect. 2016 Jun;46(4):200-6.
- de With K, Allerberger F, Amann S, Apfalter P, Brodt HR, Eckmanns T, et al. Strategies to enhance rational use of
 antibiotics in hospital: a guideline by the German Society for Infectious Diseases. Infection. 2016 Apr 11.
- Falk G, Fahey T. C-reactive protein and community-acquired pneumonia in ambulatory care: systematic review of
 diagnostic accuracy studies. Family Practice. 2009 February 1, 2009;26(1):10-21.
- Aabenhus R, Jensen J-U, S., Jørgensen K, Juhl, Hróbjartsson A, Bjerrum L. Biomarkers as point-of-care tests to guide
 prescription of antibiotics in patients with acute respiratory infections in primary care. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews
 [Internet]. 2014; (11). Available from:
- 359
 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/store/10.1002/14651858.CD010130.pub2/asset/CD010130.pdf?v=1&t=io2xyynm&s=cd4f8c66c5ecb

 360
 e35e8d66532a3641cb52450fd5a.
- 36119.Agarwal R, Schwartz DN. Procalcitonin to guide duration of antimicrobial therapy in intensive care units: a systematic362review. Clin Infect Dis. 2011 Aug;53(4):379-87.
- Barlam TF, Cosgrove SE, Abbo LM, MacDougall C, Schuetz AN, Septimus EJ, et al. Implementing an Antibiotic
 Stewardship Program: Guidelines by the Infectious Diseases Society of America and the Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of
 America. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2016 April 13, 2016.
- McDonagh M, Peterson K, Winthrop K, Cantor A, Holzhammer B, Buckley DI. Improving Antibiotic Prescribing for
 Uncomplicated Acute Respiratory Tract Infections. AHRQ Comparative Effectiveness Reviews. Rockville (MD)2016.
- Schuetz P, Müller B, Christ-Crain M, Stolz D, Tamm M, Bouadma L, et al. Procalcitonin to initiate or discontinue
 antibiotics in acute respiratory tract infections. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews [Internet]. 2012; (9). Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD007498.pub2/abstract.

- 23. Doan Q, Enarson P, Kissoon N, Klassen TP, Johnson DW. Rapid viral diagnosis for acute febrile respiratory illness in children in the Emergency Department. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;9:CD006452.
- Holstiege J, Mathes T, Pieper D. Effects of computer-aided clinical decision support systems in improving antibiotic
 prescribing by primary care providers: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2015 Jan;22(1):236-42.
- de Bont EG, Alink M, Falkenberg FC, Dinant GJ, Cals JW. Patient information leaflets to reduce antibiotic use and
 reconsultation rates in general practice: a systematic review. BMJ Open. 2015;5(6):e007612.
- McNulty CA, Lasseter GM, Charlett A, Lovering A, Howell-Jones R, Macgowan A, et al. Does laboratory antibiotic
 susceptibility reporting influence primary care prescribing in urinary tract infection and other infections? J Antimicrob Chemother.
 2011 Jun;66(6):1396-404.
- Buehler SS, Madison B, Snyder SR, Derzon JH, Cornish NE, Saubolle MA, et al. Effectiveness of Practices To Increase
 Timeliness of Providing Targeted Therapy for Inpatients with Bloodstream Infections: a Laboratory Medicine Best Practices
 Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2016 January 1, 2016;29(1):59-103.
- 28. Dellinger RP, Levy MM, Rhodes A, Annane D, Gerlach H, Opal SM, et al. Surviving Sepsis Campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock, 2012. Intensive Care Medicine. 2013 Feb;39(2):165-228.
- Zalmanovici Trestioreanu A, Lador A, Sauerbrun-Cutler MT, Leibovici L. Antibiotics for asymptomatic bacteriuria.
 Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015 Apr 8;4:CD009534.
- Coenen S, Ferech M, Haaijer-Ruskamp FM, Butler CC, Vander Stichele RH, Verheij TJ, et al. European Surveillance of
 Antimicrobial Consumption (ESAC): quality indicators for outpatient antibiotic use in Europe. Qual Saf Health Care. 2007
 Dec;16(6):440-5.
- Pulcini C, Defres S, Aggarwal I, Nathwani D, Davey P. Design of a 'day 3 bundle' to improve the reassessment of
 inpatient empirical antibiotic prescriptions. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2008 Jun;61(6):1384-8.
- 32. Kaki R, Elligsen M, Walker S, Simor A, Palmay L, Daneman N. Impact of antimicrobial stewardship in critical care: a
 333 systematic review. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2011 Jun;66(6):1223-30.
- 33. Coxeter P, Del Mar CB, McGregor L, Beller EM, Hoffmann TC. Interventions to facilitate shared decision making to 395 address antibiotic use for acute respiratory infections in primary care. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2015 (11).
- Kenealy T, Arroll B. Antibiotics for the common cold and acute purulent rhinitis. Cochrane Database of Systematic
 Reviews [Internet]. 2013; (6). Available from: <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD000247.pub3/abstract</u>.
- 398 35. DRIVE-AB Workpackage 1A. Quality indicators and quantity metrics of antibiotic use 2016. Available from: http://drive-ab.eu/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/WP1A_Final-QMs-QIs_final.pdf.
- 400 36. Spinks A, Glasziou Paul P, Del Mar Chris B. Antibiotics for sore throat. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 401 [Internet]. 2013; (11). Available from:
- 402
 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/store/10.1002/14651858.CD000023.pub4/asset/CD000023.pdf?v=1&t=io2y0e6i&s=141781a6a0255

 403
 2f302883bf8cad8367dfd8368a6.
- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Respiratory Tract Infections Antibiotic Prescribing: Prescribing of
 Antibiotics for Self-Limiting Respiratory Tract Infections in Adults and Children in Primary Care. Respiratory Tract Infections Antibiotic Prescribing: Prescribing of Antibiotics for Self-Limiting Respiratory Tract Infections in Adults and Children in Primary
 Care. Guidance. London2008.
- 40838.Smith Susan M, Fahey T, Smucny J, Becker Lorne A. Antibiotics for acute bronchitis. Cochrane Database of Systematic409Reviews [Internet]. 2014; (3). Available from:
- 410
 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/store/10.1002/14651858.CD000245.pub3/asset/CD000245.pdf?v=1&t=io2xzxt9&s=19eb63d2037d0

 411
 e57e270d576b2c5d4761544b816
- Alves Galvao MG, Rocha Crispino Santos MA, Alves da Cunha AJ. Antibiotics for preventing suppurative complications
 from undifferentiated acute respiratory infections in children under five years of age. Cochrane Database Syst Rev.
 2016;2:CD007880.
- 40. Aminoshariae A, Kulild JC. Evidence-based recommendations for antibiotic usage to treat endodontic infections and pain: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Journal of the American Dental Association. 2016 3//;147(3):186-91.
- 41. Lodi G, Figini L, Sardella A, Carrassi A, Del Fabbro M, Furness S. Antibiotics to prevent complications following tooth
 418 extractions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;11:CD003811.
- 419 42. Cope A, Francis N, Wood F, Mann MK, Chestnutt IG. Systemic antibiotics for symptomatic apical periodontitis and acute 420 apical abscess in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;6:CD010136.
- 42. 43. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Systematic review and evidence-based guidance on perioperative 422 antibiotic prophylaxis Stockholm: ECDC; 2012. Available from:
- 423 http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/Perioperative%20antibiotic%20prophylaxis%20-%20June%202013.pdf
- 424 44. Vouloumanou EK, Rafailidis PI, Kazantzi MS, Athanasiou S, Falagas ME. Early switch to oral versus intravenous 425 antimicrobial treatment for hospitalized patients with acute pyelonephritis: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials.
- 426 Current Medical Research and Opinion. 2008 Dec;24(12):3423-34.

- 427 45. Davey P, Brown E, Charani E, Fenelon L, Gould IM, Holmes A, et al. Interventions to improve antibiotic prescribing
 428 practices for hospital inpatients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;4:CD003543.
- 42. van der Velden AW, Pijpers EJ, Kuyvenhoven MM, Tonkin-Crine SK, Little P, Verheij TJ. Effectiveness of physiciantargeted interventions to improve antibiotic use for respiratory tract infections. British Journal of General Practice. 2012 2012-1201 00:00:00;62(605):e801-e7.
- 432 47. Davey P, Peden C, Charani E, Marwick C, Michie S. Time for action-Improving the design and reporting of behaviour
 433 change interventions for antimicrobial stewardship in hospitals: Early findings from a systematic review. Int J Antimicrob Agents.
 434 2015 Mar;45(3):203-12.
- 435 48. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, Group P. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-436 analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Medicine. 2009 Jul 21;6(7):e1000097.
- 437 49. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA). Available from: <u>http://www.prisma-</u>
 438 <u>statement.org/</u>.
- 439 50. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Infektiologie. Strategien zur Sicherung rationaler Antibiotika Anwendung im Krankenhaus:
 440 Deutsche Gesellschaft für Infektiologie; 2013. Available from: <u>http://www.awmf.org/uploads/tx_szleitlinien/092-</u>
 441 0011 S3 Antibiotika Anwendung im Krankenhaus 2013-12.pdf.
- Transatlantic Taskforce on Antimicrobial Resistance (TATFAR). Summary of the modified Delphi process for common
 structure and process indicators for hospital antimicrobial stewardship indicators 2015. Available from:
- 444 https://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/pdf/summary_of_tatfar_recommendation_1.pdf

445 446

447 Appendix 1. Methodology

In order to provide comprehensive guidelines we aimed to address all aspects of prudent antimicrobial use that are
 relevant to human medicine, in the following domains: 1) international – organisations, agencies, 2) national and
 regional – governments, administrators, public health agencies, professional associations and scientific societies, 3)
 healthcare facilities, 4) laboratories, 5) prescribers, 6) pharmacists, 7) nurses, 8) infection control practitioners, 9)
 education/academics, 10) public and patients, 11) research and 12) the pharmaceutical industry.

Given the availability of evidence-based guidelines and systematic reviews, we initially conducted a systematic 453 review of published guidelines and systematic reviews on interventions, policies, practices, systems and processes 454 that are effective in promoting the prudent use of antimicrobials in human medicine. Published guidelines and 455 systematic reviews were identified through searches in Pubmed, EMBASE, the Cochrane database of systematic 456 reviews (CDSR) and a search of national guidelines at Member State ministries of health, public health agencies 457 and professional associations' websites. The search strategy in Pubmed was: ('anti-bacterial 458 agents' [Pharmacological Action] OR `anti-bacterial agents' [MeSH Terms] OR (`anti-bacterial' [All Fields] AND 459 `agents'[All Fields]) OR `anti-bacterial agents'[All Fields] OR `antibiotic'[All Fields]) AND (`prescribing'[All Fields] OR 460 `stewardship'[All Fields] OR (`policy'[MeSH Terms] OR `policy'[All Fields])) AND (`Guideline'[ptyp] OR 461 'systematic'[sb]) and yielded 554 items. The search strategy in EMBASE was: antibiotic OR antimicrobial AND 462 prescr* AND ([cochrane review]/lim OR [systematic review]/lim OR [meta analysis]/lim) AND ([article]/lim OR 463 [review]/lim) AND [humans]/lim and identified 458 articles. The search strategy in CDSR was: (antibiotic OR 464 antimicrobial) AND (prescribing OR stewardship OR policy) and identified 381 items. The results were reviewed 465 independently by two reviewers. The AGREE guideline appraisal instrument was used for assessment of the guality 466 of the guidelines, while PRISMA was used as a guide for the assessment of the systematic reviews [48,49]. In 467 total, 39 publications (evidence-based guidelines and systematic reviews) were included in the synthesis of 468 evidence. The reference lists of all selected studies were reviewed to identify additional relevant publications. 469

In addition to the evidence-based guidelines, expert consensus was used to support recommendations for systems, 470 471 processes and policies to promote and facilitate prudent use of antimicrobials by all relevant actors, including quality assurance measures. To this end, guidelines and other available relevant documents (e.g. action plans) 472 were consulted for system-level recommendations and relevant ones were proposed for discussion by the expert 473 group [3,4,6,14,50]. Available guidelines were assessed to determine the level of evidence of each included 474 relevant recommendation. Elements of national guidelines that were specific for the setting in a particular country 475 were considered to see whether they would support a widely applicable recommendation. An initial list of 476 recommendations based on the systematic review of existing guidelines and systematic reviews was drafted to be 477

used as a basis for discussion.

Examples of good practice were provided where possible. Example indicators or metrics that can be used for
monitoring appropriate use of antimicrobials and comparisons or benchmarking were proposed based on available
relevant indicator lists, e.g. the DRIVE-AB project [35], the TATFAR structure and process indicators for
antimicrobial stewardship programmes [51] and the ESAC-Net indicators on consumption of antibacterials [30]. A
list of the proposed indicators or metrics is provided in Appendix 2.

An initial meeting was organised by the European Commission on 25 May 2016 in Luxembourg with the purpose of informing European stakeholders and Member State representatives and receiving their initial input and comments.

An expert meeting on 9–10 June 2016 was organised by ECDC to solicit input and feedback from a panel of experts from Member States, selected on the basis of experience and research in the field of antimicrobial use both in hospitals and the community. An initial list of recommendations was proposed and revised during the expert meeting. The revised recommendations were rated by the experts on a 1–9 Likert scale of appropriateness of inclusion in the EU quidelines. The median rating of all recommendations was \geq 7 and disagreement as measured

by interquartile range 25–75 was low (\leq 3). The recommendations were also rated for the level of supporting evidence. This is the first draft of the guidelines and is open for public consultation until 5 September 2016.

493 A second meeting with European stakeholders, including professional societies, is planned for September 2016.

The draft guidelines are expected to be finalised and submitted to the European Commission by the end of October 2016.

496

497

498

Appendix 2. List of proposed examples of quantitative indicators

Proposed examples of indicators/metrics	Recommendation
Number of FTEs for antimicrobial stewardship activities	3b v.
Proportion of prescriptions compliant with guidelines	3b vii.
Proportion of antimicrobial treatment courses with documentation of indication in the notes among all antimicrobial treatment courses	3b viii.
Antimicrobial consumption measured in DDDs or DOTs per 100 patient-days (in healthcare facilities)	3b xiii.
Proportion of cases of <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> bacteraemia where infectious disease consultation was provided	3b xiii.
Proportion of combination treatments among total number of antimicrobial treatments	5a v.
Consumption of beta-lactamase-sensitive penicillins (ATC code: J01CE) expressed as a percentage of the total consumption of antibacterials for systemic use (ATC code: J01)	5a ix.
Proportion of documented antimicrobial courses with reassessment after 48–72 hours	5a x.
Seasonal variation of the total antibiotic consumption (ATC code: J01) (in the community)	5b i.
Rate of compliance with administration of perioperative antimicrobial prophylaxis within 60 minutes before incision	5c ii.
Rate of compliance with discontinuation of perioperative antimicrobial prophylaxis within 24 hours after initiation of surgery	5c ii.
Incidence of Clostridium difficile infections	5c iv.

499

500 FTE, full-time equivalent; DDD, defined daily dose; DOT, day of therapy.